REED'S, INC. Form 10-Q August 13, 2018

### **UNITED STATES**

### SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

## **FORM 10-Q**

## [X] QUARTERLY REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018

## [] TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from \_\_\_\_\_ to \_\_\_\_\_

Commission file number: 001-32501

## REED'S, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware35-2177773(State of incorporation)(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

13000 South Spring St. Los Angeles, Ca. 90061

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(310) 217-9400

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes [X] No [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes [X] No []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

		Non-Accelerated Filer (do not check
Large Accelerated Filer [ ]	Accelerated Filer [ ]	
C II		if Smaller Reporting Company) [ ]
Smaller Reporting Company [X	] Emerging Growth Company [	]

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. []

Indicate by check mark whether the issuer is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [] No [X]

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date: There were a total of 25,548,996 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of July 31, 2018.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Item 2 of Part I of this report includes forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may," "should," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "proposed," "intended," or "continue" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. You should read statements that contain these words carefully, because they discuss our expectations about our future operating results or our future financial condition or state other "forward-looking" information. There may be events in the future that we are not able to accurately predict or control. Before you invest in our securities, you should be aware that the occurrence of any of the events described in this Quarterly Report could substantially harm our business, results of operations and financial condition, and that upon the occurrence of any of these events, the trading price of our securities could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, growth rates, levels of activity, performance or achievements. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this Quarterly Report to conform these statements to actual results.

2

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Condensed Financial Statements	F-1
Condensed Balance Sheets - June 30, 2018 (unaudited) and December 31, 2017	F-1
Condensed Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (unaudited)	F-2
Condensed Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Deficit for the six months ended June 30, 2018 (unaudited)	F-3
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (unaudited)	F-4
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (unaudited)	F-5
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	4
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	13
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	13
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION	14
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	14
Item 1A. Risk Factors	14
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	14
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities	14
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures	14
Item 5. Other Information	14
Item 6. Exhibits	15

3

# Part I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

#### **Item 1. Financial Statements**

### **REED'S INC. CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS**

# (Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

Current assets: Cash \$ 1,807 \$ 12,127 Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns and discounts of \$670 and \$601, respectively Inventory, net of reserve for obsolescence of \$354 and \$509, respectively Prepaid expenses and other current assets 572 199 Total Current Assets 16,420 20,948 Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment reserves of \$9,666 and \$9,339, respectively Equipment held for sale 2,184 2,370 Intangible assets 805 805 Total assets \$ 19,503 \$ 24,476 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities: Accounts payable \$ 4,307 \$ 7,480 Accrued expenses 1,727 220 Advances from officers - 277 Revolving line of credit 3,996 3,301 Current portion of capital leases payable 204 198 Current portion of long term financing obligation 231 222 Bank notes 6,244 6,947 Total current liabilities 16,709 18,645	ASSETS	June 30, 2018 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2017
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns and discounts of \$670 and \$601, respectively3,5942,691Inventory, net of reserve for obsolescence of \$354 and \$509, respectively10,4475,931Prepaid expenses and other current assets572199Total Current Assets16,42020,948Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment reserves of \$9,666 and \$9,339, respectively94353Equipment held for sale2,1842,370Intangible assets805805Total assets\$19,503\$24,476LLABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)\$4,307\$7,480Accounts payable\$4,307\$7,480Accured expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947			
\$670 and \$601, respectively3,5942,691Inventory, net of reserve for obsolescence of \$354 and \$509, respectively10,4475,931Prepaid expenses and other current assets572199Total Current Assets16,42020,948Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment reserves of \$9,666 and \$9,339, respectively94353Equipment held for sale2,1842,370Intangible assets805805Total assets\$19,503\$24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities:\$4,307\$7,480Accounds payable\$4,307\$7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947	Cash	\$ 1,807	\$12,127
Prepaid expenses and other current assets572199Total Current Assets16,42020,948Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment reserves of \$9,666 and \$9,339, respectively94353Equipment held for sale2,1842,370Intangible assets805805Total assets\$19,503\$24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities: Accounts payable\$4,307\$7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947		3,594	2,691
Total Current Assets16,42020,948Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment reserves of \$9,666 and \$9,339, respectively94353Equipment held for sale2,1842,370Intangible assets805805Total assets\$19,503\$24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities:\$4,307\$7,480Accounts payable\$4,307\$7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947		10,447	5,931
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment reserves of \$9,666 and \$9,339, respectively94353Equipment held for sale2,1842,370Intangible assets805805Total assets\$19,503\$24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities: Accounts payable\$4,307\$7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947			
\$9,666 and \$9,339, respectively94353Equipment held for sale2,1842,370Intangible assets805805Total assets\$19,503\$24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)Current Liabilities:4,307\$7,480Accounts payable\$4,307\$7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947	Total Current Assets	16,420	20,948
Equipment held for sale2,1842,370Intangible assets805805Total assets\$19,503\$24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities: Accounts payable\$4,307\$7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947		94	353
Intangible assets805805Total assets\$ 19,503\$ 24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)Current Liabilities:Accounts payable\$ 4,307\$ 7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947		2.184	2.370
Total assets\$ 19,503\$ 24,476LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) Current Liabilities:Accounts payable\$ 4,307\$ 7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947		,	,
Current Liabilities:\$ 4,307\$ 7,480Accounts payable\$ 4,307\$ 7,480Accrued expenses1,727220Advances from officers-277Revolving line of credit3,9963,301Current portion of capital leases payable204198Current portion of long term financing obligation231222Bank notes6,2446,947		\$ 19,503	\$24,476
	Current Liabilities: Accounts payable Accrued expenses Advances from officers Revolving line of credit Current portion of capital leases payable Current portion of long term financing obligation Bank notes	1,727 - 3,996 204 231 6,244	220 277 3,301 198 222 6,947
Capital leases payable, less current portion 164 236	Capital leases payable, less current portion	164	236
Long term financing obligation, less current portion, net of discount of \$659 and \$714, respectively 1,190 1,250		1,190	1,250
Convertible note to a related party3,9173,690		3,917	3,690

Warrant liability Other long term liabilities Total Liabilities	159 98 22,237		36 111 23,968
Stockholders' equity (deficit):			
Series A Convertible Preferred stock, \$10 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 9,411 shares issued and outstanding	94		94
Common stock, \$.0001 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 25,525,996 and 24,619,591 shares issued and outstanding, respectively	3		2
Common stock issuable, 634,254 and 400,000 shares, respectively	84		680
Additional paid in capital	52,182		49,833
Accumulated deficit	(55,097	)	(50,101)
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)	(2,734	)	508
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)	\$ 19,503		\$24,476

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.

# CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

### For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

# (Unaudited)

# (Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	Three Mon	ths Ended	Six Months	s Ended
	2018	2017	2018	2017
Net Sales	\$ 9,389	\$ 8,864	\$ 17,677	\$ 17,159
Cost of goods sold	6,347	7,181	12,332	14,391
Gross profit	3,042	1,683	5,345	2,768
Operating expenses:				
Delivery and handling expense	1,247	869	2,203	1,612
Selling and marketing expense	1,210	728	2,223	1,516
General and administrative expense	3,407	1,259	4,866	2,297
Total operating expenses	5,864	2,856	9,292	5,425
Loss from operations	(2,822	) (1,173	) (3,947	) (2,657 )
Interest expense	(435	) (995	) (921	) (1,513 )
Financing and warrant modification costs	0	(978	) 0	(978)
Change in fair value of warrant liability	(118	) 3,299	(123	) 3,308
Net income (loss) basic and diluted	\$ (3,375	) \$ 153	\$ (4,991	) \$ (1,840 )
Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock	(5	) (5	) (5	) (5 )
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$(3,380	) \$148	\$(4,996	) \$(1,845 )
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted	25,142,54	49 14,013,37	78 25,067,0	54 13,982,230
Income (loss) per share – basic and diluted	\$ (0.13	) \$ 0.01	\$ (0.20	) \$ (0.13 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements

# CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

### For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2018

# (Unaudited)

### (Amounts in thousands except share amounts)

	Common Sto	ock	Preferr Stock	ed	Common S Issuable	Stock	Additiona Paid In	l Accumula	tedSt	otal cockhold quity	lers'
	Shares	Amou	in <b>S</b> hares	Amou	ntShares	Amount	Capital	Deficit		Deficit)	
Balance, December 31, 2017	24,619,591	\$ 2	9,411	\$ 94	400,000	\$ 680	\$49,833	\$ (50,101	)\$	508	
Fair value of vested options	-	-	-	-	-	-	470	-		470	
Fair value of vested restricted common stock	-	-	-	-	854,592	113	593	-		706	
Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(5	)	(5	)
Common shares issued to Directors for services provided	620,338	-	-	-	(620,338)	(709)	709	-		-	
Exercise of warrants	286,067	1		-	-	-	577	-		578	
Net Loss	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(4,991	)	(4,991	)
Balance, June 30, 2018	25,525,996	\$ 3	9,411	\$ 94	634,254	\$84	\$52,182	\$ (55,097	)\$	(2,734	)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.

# CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

# For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

# (Unaudited)

# (Amounts in thousands)

	6/30/	2018		6/30/2	2017	
Cash flows from						
operating activities:						
Net loss	\$	(4,991	)	\$	(1,840	)
Adjustments to						
reconcile net loss to						
net cash used in						
operating activities:		227				
Depreciation		337			667	
Amortization of						
discount on		55			146	
Long-term financing						
obligation Loss on sale of						
property and		26				
equipment		20			-	
Fair value of vested						
stock options issued		470			228	
to employees		470			220	
Fair value of						
common stock		706			90	
issuable for services						
(Decrease) increase						
in allowance for		69			26	
doubtful accounts						
(Decrease) increase		(155	)			
in inventory reserve		(155	)		-	
(Decrease) increase						
in fair value of		123			(3,308	)
warrant liability						
Fair value of						
warrants recorded as		-			978	
financing costs						
Accrual of interest		227			-	
on Convertible note						

to a related party Changes in operating assets and				
liabilities: Accounts receivable	(972		(271	)
Inventory	(972)	)	(1,032	
Prepaid expenses		)	-	)
and other assets	(373	)	217	
Accounts payable	(3,065	)	731	
Accrued expenses	1,502		235	
Other long term	(13	)	(37	)
obligations	(15	)	(37	)
Net cash used in	(10,415	)	(3,170	)
operating activities		,		,
Cash flows from				
<i>investing activities:</i> Proceeds from sale				
of property and	96		_	
equipment	90		-	
Purchase of property				
and equipment	(78	)	(60	)
Net cash provided				
by (used in)	18		(60	)
investing activities				
Cash flows from				
financing activities:				
Borrowings on line	3,996		205	
of credit	- )			
Repayments of line	(3,301	)	-	
of credit Principal				
Principal repayments on				
capital expansion	(703	)	(355	)
loan				
Principal				
repayments on long	(10)	``	(00	`
term financial	(106	)	(90	)
obligation				
Advances from	_		500	
officers			500	
Repayment of	(277	、 、	(222	
amounts due to	(277	)	(223	)
officers Principal				
Principal repayments on				
capital lease	(110	)	(90	)
obligation				
Exercise of warrants	578		-	
Proceeds from				
issuance of	-		3,083	
convertible note				

Net cash used in financing activities Net decrease in cash Cash at beginning of period Cash at end of period	\$ 77 (10,320 12,127 1,807	)	\$ 3,030 (200 451 251	)
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: Cash paid during the period for interest Non Cash Investing and Financing Activities:	\$ 615		\$ 861	
Debt discount on note recognized as warrant liability	\$ -		\$ 3,083	
Property and equipment acquired through capital expansion loan	\$ -		\$ 723	
Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock	\$ 5		\$ 5	
Property and equipment acquired through capital lease	\$ 44		\$ -	
Vendor credits issued for fixed asset purchase	\$ 108		\$ -	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

#### 1. Basis of Presentation and Liquidity

The accompanying interim condensed financial statements of Reed's, Inc. (the "Company", "we", "us", or "our"), are unaudited, but in the opinion of management contain all adjustments, including normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly our financial position at June 30, 2018 and the results of operations and cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. The balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 is derived from the Company's audited financial statements.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding interim financial reporting. We believe that the disclosures contained in these condensed financial statements are adequate to make the information presented herein not misleading. For further information, refer to the financial statements and the notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2018.

The results of operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the full fiscal year ending December 31, 2018.

#### Liquidity

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern. Such assumption contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. For the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company recorded a net loss of \$4,991 and used cash in operations of \$10,415. As of June 30, 2018, we had a stockholder's deficit of \$2,734 and a working capital shortfall of \$289 compared to stockholder's equity of \$508 and working capital of \$2,303 at December 31, 2017.

As of June 30, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of \$1,807 and had available borrowing on our Revolving Line of Credit of \$2,004, for a total of \$3,811 of cash availability. The Revolving Line of Credit matures in October 2018. The Company's Term Loans and Capital Expansion Loan (together, the "Bank Notes"), totaling \$6,244 as of June 30, 2018, also become due in October 2018.

On July 19, 2018, the Company executed a term sheet for refinancing of all of these amounts, and management anticipates that the refinancing will be completed prior to October 2018.

Historically, we have financed our operations through public and private sales of common stock, issuance of preferred and common stock, convertible debt instruments, term loans and credit lines from financial institutions, and cash generated from operations. We expect to complete a refinancing of the current credit line and certain term loans and moving forward our primary capital source will be positive cash flow from operations. Beginning in June of 2017, we took decisive action to improve our profitability and operating cash flow, including increased outsourcing of our manufacturing process, streamlining our product portfolio, negotiating improved vendor contracts and restructuring our selling prices. The result was a 14 percentage point increase in gross margin for the six months ended June 30, 2018, as compared to the same period of 2017.

The Company anticipates the exit of our Los Angeles plant to be completed in 2018, and in December 2017 we recorded a \$3,925 impairment charge for fixed asset costs that we do not believe to be recoverable. Additionally, as a result of the planned move of our corporate headquarters (see Note 13), we recorded a charge of \$642 for one-time severance and other employee termination costs in June of 2018. We may incur additional charges including but not limited to additional cash-related expenses, non-cash impairment charges, discontinued operations and/or other costs in connection with exit and disposal activities. Such transactions will be recognized when appropriate and may require cash payments for obligations such as one-time employee involuntary termination benefits, lease and other contract termination costs, costs to close facilities, employee relocation costs and ongoing benefit arrangements.

If our sales goals do not materialize as planned, we believe the Company will be able to reduce its operating costs sufficiently to still achieve positive cash flow from operations. However, there can be no assurance that we will generate sufficient revenues from product sales in the future to achieve profitable operations. If we are not able to achieve profitable operations at some point in the future, or restructure our debt as planned, we may have insufficient working capital to maintain our operations as we presently intend to conduct them or to fund our expansion, marketing, and product development plans. There can be no assurance we will be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms, or at all.

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

2. Significant Accounting Policies

#### **Revenue Recognition**

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), ("ASC 606"). The underlying principle of ASC 606 is to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers at the amount expected to be collected. ASC 606 creates a five-step model that requires entities to exercise judgment when considering the terms of contract(s), which include (1) identifying the contract or agreement with a customer, (2) identifying our performance obligations in the contract or agreement, (3) determining the transaction price, (4) allocating the transaction price to the separate performance obligations, and (5) recognizing revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.

The Company adopted ASC 606 effective January 1, 2018, and adoption of such standard had no effect on previously reported balances. However, the guidance requires additional disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized.

The Company previously recognized and continues to recognize revenue when risk of loss transfers to our customers and collection of the receivable is reasonably assured, which generally occurs when product is shipped. A written order from the customer must be received and credit acceptance procedures performed prior to shipment of product.

The Company does not have any significant contracts with customers requiring performance beyond delivery, and contracts with customers contain no incentives or discounts that could cause revenue to be allocated or adjusted over time. Shipping and handling activities are performed before the customer obtains control of the goods and therefore represent a fulfillment activity rather than a promised service to the customer. Revenue and costs of sales are recognized when control of the products transfers to our customer, which generally occurs upon shipment from our facilities. The Company's performance obligations are satisfied at that time.

All of the Company's products are offered for sale as finished goods only, and there are no performance obligations required post-shipment for customers to derive the expected value from them.

The Company does not allow for returns, except for damaged products when the damage occurred pre-fulfillment. Damaged product returns have historically been insignificant. Because of this, the stand-alone nature of our products, and our assessment of performance obligations and transaction pricing for our sales contracts, we do not currently maintain a contract asset or liability balance at this time for obligations. We assess our contracts and the reasonableness of our conclusions on a quarterly basis.

## Loss per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if all dilutive potential common shares had been issued, using the treasury stock method. Potential common shares are excluded from the computation when their effect is antidilutive.

For the periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are the same because potential dilutive securities would have had an anti-dilutive effect. The potentially dilutive securities consisted of the following:

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

#### (In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	June 30,	June 30,
	2018	2017
Convertible note to a related party	2,266,667	-
Warrants	7,039,215	2,430,687
Common stock equivalent of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock	37,644	37,644
Unvested restricted common stock	634,254	-
Options	2,571,504	986,000
Total	12,549,284	3,454,331

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible into Common shares at the rate of 1:4.

#### Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Those estimates and assumptions include estimates for reserves of uncollectible accounts, inventory obsolescence, depreciable lives of property and equipment, analysis of impairments of recorded long-term tangible and intangible assets, realization of deferred tax assets, accruals for potential liabilities and assumptions made in valuing stock instruments issued for services.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (ASU 2016-02"). ASU 2016-02 requires a lessee to record a right of use asset and a corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. ASU 2016-02 is effective for all interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. A modified retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and

operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the expected impact that the standard could have on its financial statements and related disclosures.

In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-11, "Earnings Per Share (Topic 260); Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (Topic 480); Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): (Part I) Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features; (Part II) Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope Exception" ("ASU 2017-11"). ASU 2017-11 allows companies to exclude a down round feature when determining whether a financial instrument (or embedded conversion feature) is considered indexed to the entity's own stock. As a result, financial instruments (or embedded conversion features) with down round features may no longer be required to be accounted for as derivative liabilities. ASU 2017-11 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The guidance in ASU 2017-11 can be applied using a full or modified retrospective approach. The adoption of ASU 2017-11 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, "Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718); Improvements to Non-Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting" ("ASU 2018-07"). ASU 2018-07 generally aligns the measurement and classification of share-based awards to non-employees with that of share-based awards to employees. Non-employee equity awards will be measured at the fair value of the equity instruments to be issued, as of the grant date, and the resulting amount will be recognized as expense over the expected or contractual term of the award. The ASU applies to all share-based payments to nonemployees in exchange for goods or services used or consumed in an entity's own operations. It does not apply to instruments issued to a lender or investor in a financing transaction, or to instruments granted when selling goods or services to customers. ASU 2018-07 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the expected impact that the standard could have on its financial statements and related disclosures.

Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB, its Emerging Issues Task Force, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the Securities and Exchange Commission did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future consolidated financial statements.

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

#### Concentrations

During the three months ended June 30, 2018, the Company's largest three customers accounted for 24%, 11%, and 10% of gross sales, respectively. During the six months then ended, two of these customers accounted for 25% and 10% of gross sales, respectively.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company's largest customer accounted for 23% and 22% of gross sales, respectively.

As of June 30, 2018, the Company had accounts receivable from two customers which comprised 25% and 10%, respectively, of its gross accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2017, accounts receivable from two customers comprised approximately 23% and 16% of total accounts receivable, respectively.

During the three months ended June 30, 2018, the Company made 18% of its purchases from its largest vendor. During the six months then ended, 16% of all purchases were made from this vendor.

During both the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, a single vendor accounted for approximately 18% of all purchases.

As of June 30, 2018, a single vendor accounted for 24% of the Company's total accounts payable. As of December 31, 2017, this vendor accounted for 20% of total accounts payable.

#### **Fair Value of Financial Instruments**

The Company uses various inputs in determining the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities and measures these assets on a recurring basis. Financial assets recorded at fair value are categorized by the level of subjectivity associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Accounting Standards Codification Section 820 defines the following levels of subjectivity associated with the inputs:

Level 1-Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs based on the Company's assumptions.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term bank loans, accounts payable, notes payable and other payables, approximate their fair values because of the short maturity of these instruments. The carrying values of capital lease obligations and long-term financing obligations approximate their fair values because interest rates on these obligations are based on prevailing market interest rates.

As of June 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, the Company's balance sheets included warrant liabilities aggregating \$159 and \$36 respectively, measured at fair value based on Level 2 inputs.

# 3. Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market, and net of reserves is comprised of the following (in thousands):

	June 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Raw Materials and Packaging	\$4,195	\$ 2,670
Finished Goods	6,252	3,261
Total	\$10,447	\$ 5,931

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

The Company's reserve for slow moving and obsolete inventory aggregated \$354 and \$509 as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

### 4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is comprised of the following (in thousands):

	June 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Land	\$1,107	\$ 1,107
Building	2,360	2,360
Vehicles	612	568
Machinery and equipment	4,948	4,924
Equipment under capital leases	226	226
Office equipment	507	507
Book value	9,760	9,692
Accumulated depreciation	(5,741)	(5,414)
Impairment reserve	(3,925)	(3,925)
Net book value	\$94	\$ 353

Depreciation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 was \$159 and \$138, respectively. Depreciation expense for the six months then ended was \$337 and \$259, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded an impairment charge totaling \$3,925 as a result of Management's decision to exit our Los Angeles facility during 2018.

Equipment held for sale consists of the following (in thousands):

	June 30,	December
	2018	31, 2017
Equipment held for sale	\$4,184	\$ 4,370
Reserve	(2,000)	(2,000)
Net book value	\$2,184	\$ 2,370

## 5. Intangible Assets and Impairment Policy

Intangible assets are comprised of brand names acquired. They have been assigned an indefinite life, as we currently anticipate that they will contribute cash flows to the Company perpetually. These indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but are assessed for impairment annually and evaluated annually to determine whether the indefinite useful life remains appropriate. We first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the asset is impaired. If further testing is necessary, we compare the estimated fair value of our asset with its book value. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, as determined by the discounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. Based on management's measurement, there were no indications of impairment at June 30, 2018.

# NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

	June 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Virgil's	576	\$ 576
Sonoma Sparkler	229	229
Brand names	\$805	\$ 805

## 6. Advances from Officers

In 2017, Christopher Reed (the former Chief Executive Officer and current Chief Innovation Officer of the Company), Robert Reed (the brother of Christopher Reed), and Daniel Miles (former Chief Financial Officer of the Company), collectively advanced \$571 to the Company for working capital uses. As of December 31, 2017, \$277 of these advances remained outstanding. This balance was repaid during the quarter ended March 31, 2018 with a three percent fee.

## 7. Line of Credit and Bank Notes

As of June 30, 2018, the Company had a Loan and Security Agreement with PMC Financial Services Group, LLC (the "PMC Agreement"), which includes a \$6,000 Revolving Line of Credit, a \$3,000 Term Loan, and a Capital Expansion Loan ("CAPEX Loan"). Amounts borrowed under the PMC Agreement are secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and become due in October 2018.

On July 19, 2018, the Company received a signed term sheet for a secured revolving credit line with borrowing capacity to repay all amounts outstanding under the PMC Agreement as well as provide additional working capital if

needed at reduced borrowing costs. Completion of the transaction is subject to negotiation of mutually agreeable definitive agreements. Management anticipates that the refinancing will be completed prior to October 2018.

The provisions of the PMC Agreement, in place as of June 30, 2018, are as follows.

Revolving Line of Credit

The Revolving Line of Credit, which matures on October 21, 2018, provides for borrowings of up to 85% of accounts receivable and 60% of eligible inventory, not to exceed \$6,000. It is secured by substantially all of the Company's assets. As of June 30, 2018, \$3,996 was outstanding under the Revolving Line of Credit, and the Company had \$2,004 of additional borrowing availability as of that date. Borrowings under the Revolving Line of Credit aggregated \$3,301 as of December 31, 2017.

Bank Notes

Bank Notes consist of the following as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 (in thousands):

	June 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Term Loans		\$ 3,000
CAPEX loan	3,244	3,947
Net	\$6,244	\$ 6,947

The Term Loans are secured by all of the unencumbered assets of the Company and are due on October 1, 2018. The CAPEX loan is secured by all of the property and equipment purchased under the loan, and is due on October 21, 2018.

Interest Rates

Interest rates on borrowings under the PMC Agreement are generally calculated on a sliding scale based on our trailing six month EBITDA. If unused cash availability meets pre-established thresholds, interest rates are generally reduced to a contractual base rate plus any increase in the prime rate. The Revolving Line of Credit also bears a monthly collateral monitoring fee of .45%. The following chart summarizes loan interest rates as of June 30, 2018:

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

#### (In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	Base Increase		e	Current		
	Interest	in		Rate		
	Rate		Prime			
Line of Credit (Prime Plus)	3.60	%	1.80	%	5.40	%
Term A	9.00	%	1.50	%	10.50	%
Term B	11.60	%	1.50	%	13.10	%
CAPEX Loan	9.00	%	1.50	%	10.50	%

#### 8. Capital Leases Payable

As of June 30, 2018, the Company leased certain assets including equipment for its brewery operations, with an original aggregate value of \$944. The Company's total payment obligation includes interest at rates ranging from 6.51% to 17.31% per annum.

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31,	
2018	\$105
2019	227
2020	62
2021	6
2022	-
Total payments	\$400
Less: Amount representing interest	32
Present value of net minimum lease payments	\$368
Less: Current portion	204
Non-current portion	\$164

#### 9. Long-term Financing Obligation

Our Long-term financing obligation is comprised of the following (in thousands):

	June 30, 2018	December 31, 2017	
Financing obligation	\$2,080	\$ 2,186	
Unamortized valuation discount	(659)	(714)	
Net financing obligation	\$1,421	\$ 1,472	
Less current portion	(231)	(222)	
Long term financing obligation	\$1,190	\$ 1,250	

As the result of a 2009 sale-leaseback transaction, the Company leases two buildings and certain of its brewery equipment (the majority of the assets of our Los Angeles plant). The transaction was accounted for as a long-term financing arrangement, and the proceeds from the sale were recorded as a financing obligation in the initial amount of \$3,056. Monthly payments of approximately \$35 under the arrangement are recorded as a reduction in the financing obligation and as interest expense at an implicit rate of 9.9%.

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

In connection with the financing obligation and subsequent amendments, the Company issued 600,000 warrants to purchase its common stock. The 600,000 warrants were valued at an aggregate amount of \$1,336 which was recorded as a valuation discount. The discount is being amortized over 15 years, the term of the purchase option.

#### 10. Convertible Note to a Related Party

The Convertible Note to a Related Party consists of the following (in thousands):

	June 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
12% Convertible Note Payable	\$3,400	\$ 3,400
Accrued Interest	517	290
Total obligation	\$3,917	\$ 3,690

On April 21, 2017, pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company issued a secured, convertible, subordinated, non-redeemable note in the principal amount of \$3,400, and a warrant to purchase 1,416,667 shares of common stock. The purchaser, Raptor/Harbor Reeds SPV LLC, beneficially owned approximately 27.8% of the Company's common stock at each of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

The note bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum, compounded monthly. It is secured by the Company's assets, subordinate to the first priority security interest of PMC Financial Services Group, LLC. The note may not be prepaid and matures on April 21, 2021. It may be converted, at any time and from time to time, into shares of common stock of the Company, at a revised conversion price of \$1.50.

The warrant will expire on April 21, 2019 and has an adjusted exercise price equal to \$1.50 per share. The note and warrant contain customary anti-dilution provisions, and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the note and exercise of the warrant have been registered on Form S-1. The investor was also granted the right to participate in future financing transactions of the Company for a term of two years.

# 11. Warrant Liability

Certain of the Company's outstanding warrants require the Company to pay cash to the warrant holders, in the event of a fundamental transaction as defined. Such warrants are accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 480. These liabilities are measured at fair value each reporting period and the change in the fair value is recognized in earnings in the accompanying Statements of Operations.

The fair value of the warrant liability was determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, using the following assumptions:

	June 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Stock Price	\$2.85	\$ 1.55
Risk free interest rate	2.18 %	
Expected volatility	73.59%	56.06 %
Expected life in years	2.93	3.42
Expected dividend yield	0 %	0 %
Fair Value - Warrants	\$159	\$ 36

The risk-free interest rate is based on rates established by the Federal Reserve Bank. The Company uses the historical volatility of its common stock to estimate its future volatility. The expected life of the warrant is based upon its remaining contractual life. The expected dividend yield reflects that the Company has not paid dividends to its common stockholders in the past and does not expect to do so in the foreseeable future.

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

12. Stock Based Activity

Common stock issued

On January 10, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors ("Board") awarded certain independent Directors an aggregate of 400,000 shares of common stock pursuant to Reed's 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan ("the Plan"). The shares were issued as compensation for services provided during 2017, accordingly the Company recognized \$680, the fair value of the shares, as compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2017. The shares were issued during the first quarter of 2018.

Stock Awards

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity during the six months ended June 30, 2018:

	Number of	Fair Value				veighted verage		
						rant		
		Shares (i		(in			Date	
	Shares	thous		nds)		air		
					V	alue		
Non-vested, December 31, 2017	-		-			-		
Granted	854,592	\$	1,412		\$	1.65		
Vested	(427,296)		(706	)		1.65		
Forfeited	-		-			-		
Non-vested, June 30, 2018	427,296	\$	706		\$	1.65		

In the first quarter of 2018, the independent Directors of the Board were granted an aggregate of 70,588 shares of restricted common stock pursuant to the Plan. The shares vest in four equal installments during 2018, and the \$120 fair value of the shares is being amortized ratably over that period. During the six months ended June 30, 2018, 34,704 vested shares were issued.

On January 10, 2018, pursuant to its employment agreement with Mr. Valentin Stalowir, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, dated June 28, 2017, the Company's Board granted to Mr. Stalowir an award of 371,268 shares of restricted common stock with a fair value of \$631, pursuant to the Plan. The award vests over 18 months, and the fair value of the grant is being amortized to compensation expense through June 2019. During the six months ended June 30, 2018, 185,634 shares of common stock vested puruant to the award and were issued to Mr. Stalowir.

On March 28, 2018, the Company's Board awarded Mr. Stalowir an additional award of 412,736 shares of restricted common stock with a fair value of \$660 pursuant to the Plan. This award is subject to shareholder approval to increase the number of shares available under the Plan, and will not otherwise be issued until January 2019. The fair value of these shares is also being amortized to compensation expense through June 2019 when the shares vest.

Restricted common stock issued pursuant to the Plan is subject to such restrictions as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board, which may include restrictions on the sale of such shares or the right to receive dividends thereon. Additionally, the restricted common stock is subject to a risk of forfeiture, generally upon termination of employment or service during the vesting period. Vesting may be dependent upon the recipient's continued relationship with the Company, or may depend upon the achievement of certain pre-established performance goals.

During the six months ended June 30, 2018, an aggregate of \$706 was recognized as compensation expense relative to these awards. As of June 30, 2018, the amount of unvested compensation related to issuances of restricted common stock awards was approximately \$706, which will be recognized as an expense in future periods as the shares vest.

#### Stock options

	Shares	eighted-Average ercise Price	Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Terms (Years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2017	677,500	\$ 4.35		
Granted	2,412,504	\$ 1.62	5.76	
Exercised	-	\$ -		
Unvested forfeited or expired	414,800	\$ 2.48		
Vested forfeited or expired	103,700	\$ 3.99		
Outstanding at June 30, 2018	2,571,504	\$ 2.13	8.52	\$2,462,218
Exercisable at June 30, 2018	699,080	\$ 3.07	6.31	\$418,945

### NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between the closing market price as of June 30, 2018, which was \$2.85, and the exercise price of the outstanding stock options.

On January 10, 2018, pursuant to its employment agreement with Valentin Stalowir dated June 28, 2017, the Company's Board granted to Mr. Stalowir options to purchase 371,268 shares of stock, pursuant to the Plan. The options have an exercise price of \$1.70, vest over 18 months, and have a 10 year life. The \$370 fair value of the options is being amortized through June 2019.

On March 28, 2018, the Company approved the issuance of options to purchase 1,628,500 shares of common stock to certain current employees, officers and Directors pursuant to the Plan. One half of these options vest annually over a four-year period; the other half of these options will vest based on performance criteria to be established by the Board at its discretion. The \$1,441 fair value of the options is being amortized through March 31, 2022.

Also, on March 28, 2018, the Company approved the repricing of former Chief Financial Officer Mr. Miles' 2015 Plan options to the market price of \$1.60, and extended the option period an additional four years.

On March 28, 2018, the Board awarded Mr. Stalowir options to purchase 412,736 shares of common stock, which are subject to shareholder approval to increase the number of shares available under the Plan, and are not otherwise issuable until January 2019. One half of these options will vest annually over a four-year period; the other half of these options will vest based on performance criteria to be established by the Board. The fair value of these options of \$389 is being amortized through March 31, 2022.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company recognized \$309 and \$470 of compensation expense relating to outstanding stock options. As of June 30, 2018, the amount of unvested compensation related to stock options was approximately \$1,529 which will be recorded as an expense in future periods as the options vest.

As of June 30, 2018, the company has accrued \$571 of compensation expense, consisting of amounts due Mr. Stalowir for anticipated performance bonuses earned through that date by the terms of his employment agreement with the Company, as well as the tax liability arising from the share-based awards described above.

#### Common Stock Purchase Warrants

	Shares	eighted-Average ercise Price	Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Terms (Years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31,2017	7,325,282	\$ 2.09	3.43	
Granted				
Exercised	286,067	\$ 2.03		
Forfeited or expired	0			
Outstanding at June 30, 2018	7,039,215	\$ 1.94	3.45	\$ 6,406
Exercisable at June 30, 2018	6,526,342	\$ 2.10	3.36	\$ 4,895

The intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between the closing market price as of June 30, 2018, which was \$2.85, and the exercise price of the Company's warrants to purchase common stock.

During the six months ended June 30, 2018, warrants to acquire 286,067 shares of common stock were exercised, resulting in proceeds of \$578 to the Company.

## 13. Subsequent Event – Company Relocation

In August of 2018, the company concluded negotiations for a lease on new office space and plans to relocate its Company headquarters to Norwalk, CT over the next several months after completing the exit of the Company's production facility in Los Angeles, CA. The Company's move to Norwalk, CT, is consistent with its recent focus on a streamlined sales and marketing organization that is better positioned for future growth and enhanced profitability. The new Norwalk office will serve as headquarters for the Company's operations, business development, sales and marketing, finance, supply chain, HR and other corporate functions. With key leadership already based in the Tri-State area, including support agencies leading the Company's marketing, advertising and public relations efforts, this will ensure a seamless transition. The term of the lease is for 6.5 years with monthly payments of \$10 during the first 3 years and then adjusting to \$20 through December 15, 2024. The Company expects the lease to be executed and effective in August 2018.

### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this report. This discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements based on assumptions about our future business.

#### Overview

In order to strengthen our operations, position ourselves for the future, and develop the Company into a premier sales and marketing organization, we took the following actions beginning in June of 2017:

We brought on several seasoned industry experts to provide leadership and direction to the Company, including the appointment of Valentin Stalowir to be our new Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Stalowir is a 25-year veteran of the food and beverage industry with extensive experience in sales and marketing, new product development, and improving operational efficiency.

We began concentrated efforts to move toward an asset light production model utilizing outsourced manufacturing to a greater degree, enabling us to focus more on sales, marketing and product innovation. We have negotiated a lease for office space in Norwalk, Connecticut, in order to relocate our Company headquarters to the area where our key leadership is located, including support agencies leading the Company's marketing, advertising and public relations efforts. See Note 13 of the Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.

We streamlined our portfolio of over one hundred separate SKUs to focus on the Reed's and Virgil's beverage brands with approximately thirty-five SKUs that together accounted for approximately 93% of 2018 gross revenue. We were also able to further improve gross margins by negotiating improved raw material contracts and terms.

We restructured our selling prices to offset several years of raw material price increases and to better reflect our consumers' willingness to pay a premium for handcrafted, all-natural beverages with premium ingredients.

We are very pleased to report that these and other actions have resulted in selling price growth during the quarter, on a 12-ounce case basis, of 6% on our core brands and an even larger improvement in cost of goods sold (COGS) with a reduction of 12%. Price increases taken in the prior year and COGS reductions this quarter led to our gross margin increasing to 32% from 19% over the same quarter in 2017. When combined with the volume increase, the resulting top line profit almost doubled to \$3,042 or 81% over the same quarter in the prior year.

Our operating expenses increased as planned as we added new leadership talent, invested in sales, marketing and brand refresh initiatives, and compensated employees with non-cash performance-based equity awards and accrued for anticipated bonuses. We also accrued for severance as a result of the pending relocation of our headquarters to Norwalk, CT.

We have \$3,811 cash available for working capital purposes. We have executed a term sheet for a secured revolving line of credit, and management anticipates that the refinancing will be completed prior to October 2018.

#### **Results of Operations – Three months ended June 30, 2018**

The following table sets forth key statistics for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, in thousands.

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Pct.	
	2018		2017		Change	e
Gross sales *	\$10,361		\$9,731		6	%
Less: Promotional and other allowances **	972		867		12	%
Net sales	9,389		8,864		6	%
Cost of tangible goods sold	5,955		6,593		-10	%
As a percentage of:						
Gross sales	57	%	68	%		
Net sales	63	%	74	%		
Cost of goods sold – idle capacity	392		588		-33	%
As a percentage of net sales	4	%	7	%		
Gross profit	3,042		1,683		81	%
Gross profit margin as a percentage of net sales	32	%	19	%		
Expenses						
Delivery and handling	1,247		869		43	%
Selling and marketing	1,210		728		66	%
General and administrative	3,407		1,259		171	%
Total Operating expenses	5,864		2,856		105	%
Income from operations	(2,822	)	(1,173	)	141	%
Interest expense and other expense	(553)		1,326		-142	%
Net loss to stockholders	\$(3,375	)	\$153		-2307	%
Weighted average shares outstanding	25,142,54	9	14,013,37	8	79	%
Net income(loss) per share	\$(0.13	)	\$0.01		-1330	%

\* Gross sales is used internally by management as an indicator of and to monitor operating performance, including sales performance of particular products, salesperson performance, product growth or declines and overall Company performance. The use of gross sales allows evaluation of sales performance before the effect of any promotional items, which can mask certain performance issues. We therefore believe that the presentation of gross sales provides a

useful measure of our operating performance. Gross sales is not a measure that is recognized under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net sales, which is determined in accordance with GAAP, and should not be used alone as an indicator of operating performance in place of net sales. Additionally, gross sales may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies, as gross sales has been defined by our internal reporting practices. In addition, gross sales may not be realized in the form of cash receipts as promotional payments and allowances may be deducted from payments received from certain customers.

\*\* Although the expenditures described in this line item are determined in accordance with GAAP and meet GAAP requirements, the disclosure thereof does not conform to GAAP presentation requirements. Additionally, our definition of promotional and other allowances may not be comparable to similar items presented by other companies. Promotional and other allowances primarily include consideration given to the Company's distributors or retail customers including, but not limited to the following: (i) reimbursements given to the Company's distributors for agreed portions of their promotional spend with retailers, including slotting, shelf space allowances and other fees for both new and existing products; (ii) the Company's agreed share of fees given to distributors and/or directly to retailers for in-store marketing and promotional activities; (iii) the Company's agreed share of slotting, shelf space allowances and other fees given directly to retailers; (iv) incentives given to the Company's distributors and/or retailers for achieving or exceeding certain predetermined sales goals; and (v) discounted or free products. The presentation of promotional and other allowances facilitates an evaluation of their impact on the determination of net sales and the spending levels incurred or correlated with such sales. Promotional and other allowances constitute a material portion of our marketing activities. The Company's promotional allowance programs with its numerous distributors and/or retailers are executed through separate agreements in the ordinary course of business. These agreements generally provide for one or more of the arrangements described above and are of varying durations, ranging from one week to one year.

### **Top Line Metrics**

The following chart sets forth key statistics for the transition of the Company's top line activity from the first quarter of 2017 through the second quarter of 2018.

	2017								2018			
Volume	Q1		Q2		Q3		Q4		Q1		Q2	
Reed's 12 ounce cases	282		287		288		248		261		276	
Virgil's 12 ounce cases	176		190		215		165		179		234	
Core 12 ounce volume	458		477		502		413		439		510	
Core Volume vs PY	-4	%	-11	%	-8	%	-4	%	-4	%	7	%
Sales price												
Core rev/case CY	\$17.6		\$17.9		\$18.3		\$18.7		\$18.6		\$18.9	
Core rev/case PY	\$17.4		\$17.7		\$17.6		\$17.7		\$17.6		\$17.9	
Core Beverage selling price vs PY	1	%		%		%	6	%		%	6	%
Cost of goods sold	* • • • •		* • • • •		<b>.</b>		* · · •		* • • • •		* • • • •	
Core cogs/case CY	\$11.8		\$11.8		\$11.7		\$11.3		\$10.8		\$10.4	
Core cogs/case PY	\$11.4		\$11.2		\$11.2		\$11.6		\$11.8		\$11.8	
Core Beverage COGS vs PY	4	%	5	%	4	%	-2	%	-9	%	-12	%
Beverage profit												
Reed's	1,540	)	1,660	)	1,775	5	1,661	l	1,930	)	2,33	7
Virgil's	1,118	8	1,244	1	1,574		1,384		1,500	)	1,66	8
Core Gross Profit	\$2,658		\$2,904		\$3,349		\$3,045		\$3,430	)	\$4,00	
Core Profit vs PY	-8	%		%		%	-	%	-	%	38	%
Other												
Candy Gross Profit	\$139		\$75		\$127		\$152		\$131		\$90	
Discounts		<b>`</b>	\$ <i>8</i> 67			2	\$152 \$899		\$567		\$90 \$972	
	\$1,059	,			\$1,178	5						
Idle Plant	\$788		\$588		\$799		\$866		\$676		\$392	

As part of the Company's ongoing initiative to simplify and streamline operations by reducing the number of SKUs that we offer, the Company has identified certain of its products on which to place its strategic focus. These core products consist of Reed's and Virgil's branded beverages. Non-core products consist primarily of discontinued Reed's and Virgil's skus, private label beverages and candy. Certain products that were formerly considered to be core products have been redefined as non-core. All periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the change.

## **Top Line Discussion**

Sales

As a result of our decision to focus on the core Reed's and Virgil's beverage brands and simplify operations by reducing the overall number of SKUs that we offer, the Company's core beverage volume for the quarter ended June 30, 2018 represents 93% of all beverage volume.

Gross sales revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2018 increased by 6% to \$10,361, compared to the same period in the prior year of \$9,731. Core brand gross revenue increased 13% during the current quarter as compared to the year ago quarter, from \$8,538 to \$9,639. This increase was partially offset by declines in non-core brands as a result of our 2017 SKU reduction. On a 12-ounce case basis, price on our core brands increased \$1.00 per 12-ounce case or 6% year over year while volume increased by 7% during the current quarter as compared to the year-ago quarter. The major driver of the increase was the successful launch of Virgil's Zero cans.

Net sales revenue increased in the second quarter of 2018 to \$9,389 from \$8,864 in the same period in 2017. Promotional spending increased to \$972 versus \$867 during the same period of the prior year, however as a percentage of gross revenues it remained flat at 9% because the increase in revenues kept pace with the increase in promotional spending.

Cost of Goods Sold and Produced

Cost of goods sold decreased \$638 during the second quarter of 2018 as compared to the year-ago quarter, despite increased volume. As a percentage of net sales, cost of goods sold decreased 11 percentage points in the second quarter of 2018, to 63% from 74% in the year-ago period. On a 12-ounce case basis, cost of goods sold decreased to \$10.4 from \$11.8 or \$1.40 per 12-ounce case. The main drivers of decrease were a reduction in packaging costs, mainly a reduction in glass, and productivity gains realized from the reduction in SKUs.

Cost of goods produced represents the cost of goods sold plus the costs associated with maintaining idle capacity in our Los Angeles manufacturing facility. Idle plant costs decreased in the second quarter of 2018 to \$392 from \$588 in the same period in 2017, as a result of higher production volumes.

Upon completion of the Company's plan to exit its Los Angeles operations, substantially all of our idle plant costs will be eliminated.

#### Gross Margin

Our price restructuring, along with the significant reduction in cost of sales discussed above, resulted in a 13 percentage point increase in gross margin in the second quarter of 2018, to 32% when compared to 19% in same quarter of 2017.

#### **Operating Expense Discussion**

Delivery and Handling Expenses

Delivery and handling expenses consist of delivery costs to customers and warehouse costs incurred for handling our finished goods after production. Delivery and handling expenses increased in the second quarter of 2018 to \$1,247 from \$869 in the same period in 2017. As a percentage of net sales, delivery costs were 13%, as compared to 10% in the year-ago period. This increase was due to transition charges from and to new warehouse partners and an industry wide increase in freight rates.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of direct charges for staff compensation costs, advertising, design and PR agencies, sales support, broker fees, marketing programs and trade shows. Beginning in 2018 the Company began analyzing its sales and marketing efforts as two distinct expense categories. Marketing expenses consist of direct marketing, marketing labor and marketing support costs. Selling expenses consist of all other selling-related expenses. Total selling and marketing expenses were \$1,210 during the second quarter of 2018, compared to \$728 during the year-ago period. As a percentage of net sales, Selling and Marketing costs increased to 13% during the three months ended June 30, 2018, as compared to 8% during the same period of the prior year, as a result of invest ahead activities during the 2018 quarter. The increased investment in sales and marketing is consistent with the Company's strategy to refresh and re-accelerate growth of the core brands.

Marketing expenses for second quarter of 2018 aggregated \$494. Marketing expenses were not tracked separately in the year-ago period. As a percentage of net sales, Marketing expenses equaled 5%.

#### General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of the cost of executive, administrative, and finance personnel, as well as professional fees. General and administrative expenses increased in the second quarter of 2018 to \$3,407 from \$1,259, an increase of \$2,148 over the same period in 2017. The main drivers of the increase were non-cash employee stock option and restricted stock expense aggregating \$820, bonus accruals of \$571, and one-time severance accruals related to our planned move to Norwalk, Connecticut of \$642.

## Loss from Operations

As a result of the changes discussed above, the loss from operations was \$2,822 for the three months ended June 30, 2018, as compared to a loss of \$1,173 in the same period of 2017.

#### **Interest and Other Expense**

Interest and other expense for the three months ended June 30, 2018 consisted of \$435 of interest expense and \$118 of expense related to a change in the fair value of our warrant liability. During the same period of 2017, interest expense aggregated \$995 and we incurred financing and warrant modification costs of \$978, which partially offset a benefit of \$3,299 from the change in fair value of our warrant liability. The decrease in interest expense, to \$435 during the current quarter from \$995 during the year ago quarter, is the result of lower average borrowings during the current quarter.

## **Modified EBITDA**

In addition to our GAAP results, we present Modified EBITDA as a supplemental measure of our performance. However, Modified EBITDA is not a recognized measurement under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, income from operations or any other performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP, or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. We define Modified EBITDA as net income (loss), plus interest expense, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, changes in fair value of warrant expense, and one-time employee severance costs.

Management considers our core operating performance to be that which our managers can affect in any particular period through their management of the resources that affect our underlying revenue and profit generating operations that period. Non-GAAP adjustments to our results prepared in accordance with GAAP are itemized below. You are encouraged to evaluate these adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate for supplemental analysis. In evaluating Modified EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments in this presentation. Our presentation of Modified EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.

Set forth below is a reconciliation of net income (loss) to Modified EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (unaudited; in thousands):

	Three Months		
	Ended June 30,		
	2018	2017	
Net income (loss)	\$(3,375)	\$153	
Modified EBITDA adjustments:			
Depreciation and amortization	160	194	
Interest expense	435	995	
Stock option and RSU compensation	902	178	
Financing costs	0	978	
Change in fair value of warrant liability	128	(3,299)	
Employee severance costs	642	0	
Total EBITDA adjustments	\$2,267	\$(954)	
Modified EBITDA	\$(1,108)	\$(801)	

We present Modified EBITDA because we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing our performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that we do not believe are indicative of our core

operating performance. In addition, we use Modified EBITDA in developing our internal budgets, forecasts and strategic plan; in analyzing the effectiveness of our business strategies in evaluating potential acquisitions; and in making compensation decisions and in communications with our board of directors concerning our financial performance. Modified EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, which includes, among others, the following:

Modified EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

Modified EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

Modified EBITDA does not reflect future interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our debts; and

Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and Modified EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements.

#### **Results of Operations – Six months ended June 30, 2018**

The following table sets forth key statistics for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, in thousands:

	Six Months Ended June 30,				Pct.	
	2018		2017		Chang	e
Gross sales *	\$19,216		\$19,087		1	%
Less: Promotional and other allowances**	1,539		1,928		-20	%
Net sales	17,677		17,159		3	%
Cost of tangible goods sold	11,264		13,015		-13	%
As a percentage of:						
Gross sales	59	%	68	%		
Net sales	64	%	76	%		
Cost of goods sold – idle capacity	1,068		1,376		-22	%
As a percentage of net sales	6	%	8	%		
Gross profit	\$5,345		\$2,768		93	%
Gross profit margin as a percentage of net sales	30	%	16	%		
Expenses						
Delivery and handling	\$2,203		\$1,612		37	%
Selling and marketing	2,223		1,516		47	%
General and administrative	4,866		2,297		112	%
Total Operating expenses	\$9,292		\$5,425		71	%
Loss from operations	\$(3,947	)	\$(2,657	)	49	%
Interest expense and other expense	(1,044	)	817		-228	%
Net loss to stockholders	\$(4,991	)	\$(1,840	)	171	%
Weighted average shares outstanding	25,067,05	4	13,982,23	0	79	%
Net income(loss) per share	\$(0.20	)	\$(0.13	)	51	%

\* Gross sales is used internally by management as an indicator of and to monitor operating performance, including sales performance of particular products, salesperson performance, product growth or declines and overall Company performance. The use of gross sales allows evaluation of sales performance before the effect of any promotional items, which can mask certain performance issues. We therefore believe that the presentation of gross sales provides a useful measure of our operating performance. Gross sales is not a measure that is recognized under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net sales, which is determined in accordance with GAAP, and should not

be used alone as an indicator of operating performance in place of net sales. Additionally, gross sales may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies, as gross sales has been defined by our internal reporting practices. In addition, gross sales may not be realized in the form of cash receipts as promotional payments and allowances may be deducted from payments received from certain customers.

\*\* Although the expenditures described in this line item are determined in accordance with GAAP and meet GAAP requirements, the disclosure thereof does not conform to GAAP presentation requirements. Additionally, our definition of promotional and other allowances may not be comparable to similar items presented by other companies. Promotional and other allowances primarily include consideration given to the Company's distributors or retail customers including, but not limited to the following: (i) reimbursements given to the Company's distributors for agreed portions of their promotional spend with retailers, including slotting, shelf space allowances and other fees for both new and existing products; (ii) the Company's agreed share of fees given to distributors and/or directly to retailers for in-store marketing and promotional activities; (iii) the Company's agreed share of slotting, shelf space allowances and other fees given directly to retailers; (iv) incentives given to the Company's distributors and/or retailers for achieving or exceeding certain predetermined sales goals; and (v) discounted or free products. The presentation of promotional and other allowances facilitates an evaluation of their impact on the determination of net sales and the spending levels incurred or correlated with such sales. Promotional and other allowances constitute a material portion of our marketing activities. The Company's promotional allowance programs with its numerous distributors and/or retailers are executed through separate agreements in the ordinary course of business. These agreements generally provide for one or more of the arrangements described above and are of varying durations, ranging from one week to one year.

## **Top Line Discussion**

Sales

As a result of our decision to focus on the core Reed's and Virgil's beverage brands and simplify operations by reducing the overall number of SKUs that we offer, the Company's core beverage volume for the six month period ended June 30, 2018 represents 93% of all beverage volume.

Gross sales revenue increased to \$19,216 during the six months ended June 30, 2018 from \$19,087 during the year-ago period. On a core product 12 ounce case basis, price increased \$1.00 per 12-ounce case or 6% year over year while volume increased 1% during the year-to-date period. The main driver of the increase was a price restructuring implemented during the third quarter of 2017 as well as the launch of Virgil's Zero cans.

Net sales revenue increased during the six months ended June 30, 2018, to \$17,677 from \$17,159 in the same period of 2017. The net sales increase was primarily the result of the Company's 2017 price restructuring. As a percentage of gross revenues, promotional spending decreased to 8% during the six-month period as compared to 10% in the same period of the prior year as the Company took steps to optimize its strategy and approach to investment against

promotional programs.

## Cost of Goods Sold and Produced

Cost of goods sold decreased during the six months ended June 30, 2018 to \$11,264 from \$13,015 in the same period in 2017. The main driver of decrease was a reduction in packaging costs in glass and productivity gains realized from the reduction in SKUs.

Cost of goods produced represents the cost of goods sold plus the costs associated with maintaining idle capacity in our Los Angeles manufacturing facility. Idle plant costs aggregated \$1,068 during the six months ended June 30, 2018, compared to \$1,376 in the same period in 2017.

Upon completion of the Company's plan to exit its Los Angeles operation, substantially all of our idle plant costs will be eliminated.

#### Gross Margin

Our price restructuring, along with the significant reduction in cost of sales discussed above, resulted in gross margin almost doubling during the six months ended June 30, 2018, to 30% when compared to 16% in same period of 2017.

#### **Operating Expense Discussion**

#### Delivery and Handling Expenses

Delivery and handling expenses consist of delivery costs to customers and warehouse costs incurred for handling our finished goods after production. Delivery and handling expenses increased in the six months ended June 30, 2018 to \$2,203 from \$1,612 in the same period of 2017. As a percentage of net sales, delivery costs were 12%, compared to 9% during the year-ago period. This increase was due to transition charges from and to new warehouse partners and an industry wide increase in freight rates.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of direct charges for staff compensation costs, advertising, design and PR agencies, sales support, broker fees, marketing programs and trade shows. Beginning in 2018, the Company began analyzing its sales and marketing efforts as two distinct expense categories. Marketing expenses consist of direct marketing, marketing labor and marketing support costs. Selling expenses consist of all other selling-related expenses.

Total selling and marketing expenses increased during the six months ended June 30, 2018, to \$2,223 from \$1,516 during the same period in 2017, primarily driven by increased investment in sales and marketing personnel and support agencies, new broker relationships and trade show activity. As a percentage of net sales, selling and marketing costs increased to 13%, compared to 9% during the six months ended June 30, 2017, as a result of invest ahead activities during the period. The increased investment in sales and marketing is consistent with the company's strategy to refresh and re-accelerate growth of the core brands.

Marketing expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2018 aggregated \$718. Marketing expenses were not tracked separately in the year-ago period. As a percentage of net sales, marketing costs equaled 4%.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of the cost of executive, administrative, and finance personnel, as well as professional fees. General and administrative expenses increased during the six months ended June 30, 2018 to \$4,866 from \$2,297, an increase of \$2,569 over the same period in 2017. The main drivers of the increase were non-cash stock option and restricted stock expense aggregating \$1,065, bonus accruals of \$571, and one-time severance accruals related to our planned move to Norwalk, Connecticut of \$642.

## Loss from Operations

As a result of the changes discussed above, the loss from operations was \$3,947 for the six months ended June 30, 2018, as compared to a loss of \$2,657 in the same period of 2017.

#### **Interest and Other Expense**

Interest and other expense for the six months ended June 30, 2018 consisted of \$921 of interest expense and \$123 of expense related to the change in fair value of our warrant liability. During the same period of 2017, interest expense aggregated \$1,513 and we incurred financing and warrant modification costs of \$978, which partially offset a benefit of \$3,308 from the change in fair value of our warrant liability. The decrease in interest expense, to \$921 during the current six-month period from \$1,513 during the same period of the prior year, is the result of lower average borrowings during the current six-month period.

## **Modified EBITDA**

In addition to our GAAP results, we present Modified EBITDA as a supplemental measure of our performance. However, Modified EBITDA is not a recognized measurement under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, income from operations or any other performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP, or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. We define Modified EBITDA as net income (loss), plus interest expense, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, changes in fair value of warrant expense, and one-time employee severance costs.

Management considers our core operating performance to be that which our managers can affect in any particular period through their management of the resources that affect our underlying revenue and profit generating operations that period. Non-GAAP adjustments to our results prepared in accordance with GAAP are itemized below. You are encouraged to evaluate these adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate for supplemental analysis. In evaluating Modified EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments in this presentation. Our presentation of Modified EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.

Set forth below is a reconciliation of net income (loss) to Modified EBITDA for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (unaudited; in thousands):

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 2017		
Net income (loss)	\$(4,991)	\$(1,840)	
Modified EBITDA adjustments:			
Depreciation and amortization	337	813	
Interest expense	921	1,513	
Stock option and RSU compensation	1,176	318	
Financing costs	0	978	
Change in fair value of warrant liability	123	(3,308)	
Employee severance costs	642	0	
Total EBITDA adjustments	\$3,199	\$314	
Modified EBITDA	\$(1,792)	\$(1,526)	

We present Modified EBITDA because we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing our performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that we do not believe are indicative of our core operating performance. In addition, we use Modified EBITDA in developing our internal budgets, forecasts and strategic plan; in analyzing the effectiveness of our business strategies in evaluating potential acquisitions; and in making compensation decisions and in communications with our board of directors concerning our financial performance. Modified EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, which includes, among others, the following:

Modified EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

Modified EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

Modified EBITDA does not reflect future interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our debts; and

Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and Modified EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements.

## **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern. Such assumption contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. For the six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company recorded a net loss of \$4,991 and used cash in operations of \$10,415. As of June 30, 2018, we had a stockholder's deficit of \$2,734 and a working capital shortfall of \$289 compared to stockholder's equity of \$508 and working capital of \$2,303 at December 31, 2017. The increase in cash used in operating activities primarily relates to investments in inventory to support plans for manufacturing transition, the launch of Virgil's Zero Sugar and to ensure inventory levels sufficient to meet anticipated demand, as well as cash used to pay stretched payables during the first quarter of 2018.

As of June 30, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of \$1,807 and had available borrowing on our Revolving Line of Credit of \$2,004, for a total of \$3,811 of cash availability. The Revolving Line of Credit matures in October 2018. The Company's Term Loans and Capital Expansion Loan (together, the "Bank Notes"), totaling \$6,244, also become due in October 2018. On July 19, 2018, the Company executed a term sheet for the refinancing of all of these amounts, and management anticipates that the refinancing will be completed prior to October 2018.

Historically, we have financed our operations through public and private sales of common stock, issuance of preferred and common stock, convertible debt instruments, term loans and credit lines from financial institutions, and cash generated from operations. We expect to complete a refinancing of the current credit line and certain terms loans and moving forward our primary capital source will be positive cash flow from operations. Beginning in June of 2017, we took decisive action to improve our profitability and operating cash flow, including increased outsourcing of our manufacturing process, streamlining our product portfolio, negotiating improved vendor contracts and restructuring our selling prices. The result was a 14 percentage point increase in gross margin for the six months ended June 30, 2018, as compared to the same period of 2017.

The Company anticipates the exit of our Los Angeles plant to be completed in 2018, and in December 2017 we recorded a \$3,925 impairment charge for fixed asset costs that we do not believe to be recoverable. Additionally, as a result of the planned move of our corporate headquarters (see Note 13), we recorded a charge of \$642 for severance and other employee termination costs in June of 2018. We may incur additional charges including, but not limited to additional cash-related expenses, non-cash impairment charges, discontinued operations and/or other costs in connection with exit and disposal activities. Such transactions will be recognized when appropriate and may require cash payments for obligations such as one-time employee involuntary termination benefits, lease and other contract termination costs, costs to close facilities, employee relocation costs and ongoing benefit arrangements.

If our sales goals do not materialize as planned, we believe the Company will be able to reduce its operating costs sufficiently to achieve positive cash flow from operations. However, there can be no assurance that we will generate

sufficient revenues from product sales in the future to achieve profitable operations. If we are not able to achieve profitable operations at some point in the future, or restructure our debt as planned, we may have insufficient working capital to maintain our operations as we presently intend to conduct them or to fund our expansion, marketing, and product development plans. There can be no assurance we will be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms, or at all.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in our financial statements including various allowances and reserves for accounts receivable and inventories, the estimated lives of long-lived assets and trademarks and trademark licenses, as well as claims and contingencies arising out of litigation or other transactions that occur in the normal course of business. The following summarizes our most significant accounting and reporting policies and practices:

*Revenue Recognition* On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), ("ASC 606"). Under ASC 606, revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract are satisfied, which occurs for the Company upon shipment or delivery of products or services to our customers based on written sales terms, which is also when control is transferred. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring the products or services to a customer.

The Company previously recognized and continues to recognize revenue when risk of loss transfers to our customers and collection of the receivable is reasonably assured, which generally occurs when product is shipped. A written order from the customer must be received and credit acceptance procedures performed prior to shipment of product.

The Company does not allow for returns, except for damaged products when the damage occurred pre-fulfillment. Damaged product returns have historically been insignificant. Because of this, the standalone nature of our products, and our assessment of performance obligations and transaction pricing for our sales contracts, we do not currently maintain a contract asset or liability balance at this time for obligations. We assess our contracts and the reasonableness of our conclusions on a quarterly basis.

Amounts paid by customers for shipping and handling costs are included in sales. The Company reimburses its wholesalers and retailers for promotional discounts, samples and certain advertising and promotional activities used in the promotion of the Company's products. The accounting treatment for the reimbursements for samples and discounts to wholesalers results in a reduction in the net revenue line item. Reimbursements to wholesalers and retailers for certain advertising activities are included in selling and marketing expenses.

*Long-Lived Assets.* Our management regularly reviews property, equipment and other long-lived assets, including identifiable amortizing intangibles, for possible impairment. This review occurs quarterly or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If there is indication of impairment of property and equipment or amortizable intangible assets, then management prepares an estimate of future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If these cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized to write down the asset to its estimated fair value.

The fair value is estimated at the present value of the future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with management's estimates of the business risks. Preparation of estimated expected future cash flows is inherently subjective and is based on management's best estimate of assumptions concerning expected future conditions. No impairments were identified during the six months ended June 30, 2018.

Management believes that the accounting estimates related to assessing impairment of our long lived assets, including our trademark license and trademarks, are "critical accounting estimates" because: (1) they are highly susceptible to change from period to period because it requires estimates of fair value, based on assumptions about cash flows and discount rates; and (2) the impact of an impairment could be material. Management's assumptions about cash flows and discount rates require significant judgment because actual revenues and expenses have fluctuated in the past and we expect they will continue to do so.

## **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

See Note 2 of the Notes to Condensed Financial Statements for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

# Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

A smaller reporting company is not required to provide the information required by this Item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

**Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures** 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15(f). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2018.

#### Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

## PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

#### **Item 1. Legal Proceedings**

We are subject to various legal proceedings from time to time in the ordinary course of business, none of which are required to be disclosed under this Item 1.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

A smaller reporting company is not required to provide the information required by this Item.

#### Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

## Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

# Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

# **Item 5. Other Information**

None.

## Item 6. Exhibits

#### Exhibit

No.

Description

31.1		5.58%	1/1/2015
Mortgage loan secured by Sunset Gower/Sunset Bronson <sup>(4)</sup>	92,000	LIBOR+3.50%	2/11/2016
Mortgage loan secured by Rincon Center <sup>(5)</sup>	108,014	5.134%	5/1/2018
Mortgage loan secured by First Financial <sup>(6)</sup>	43,000	4.58%	2/1/2022
Mortgage loan secured by 10950 Washington (7)	29,812	5.316%	3/11/2022
Subtotal	\$358,062		
Unamortized loan premium, net <sup>(8)</sup>	1,392		
Total	\$359,454		

(1) Interest rate with respect to indebtedness is calculated on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual days elapsed, excluding the amortization of loan fees and costs.

(3) This loan was assumed on November 22, 2011 in connection with the closing of our acquisition of the 6922 Hollywood Boulevard property.

On February 11, 2011, we closed a five-year term loan totaling \$92 million with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., secured by our Sunset Gower and Sunset Bronson media and entertainment properties. The loan bears interest at a rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 3.50%. \$37.0 million of the loan was subject to an interest rate contract, which swaps one-month LIBOR to a fixed rate of 0.75% through April 30, 2011. On March 16, 2011, we purchased an

- (4) interest rate cap in order to cap one-month LIBOR at 3.715% with respect to \$50.0 million of the loan through its maturity on February 11, 2016. On January 11, 2012 we purchased an interest rate cap in order to cap one-month LIBOR at 2.00% with respect to \$42.0 million of the loan through its maturity on February 11, 2016. Beginning with the payment due February 1, 2014, monthly debt service will include principal payments based on a 30-year amortization schedule, for total annual debt amortization of \$1,113.
- (5) On April 29, 2011, we closed a seven-year term loan totaling \$110.0 million with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., secured by our Rincon Center property. The loan bears interest at a fixed annual rate of 5.134%. On January 19, 2012 we closed a 10-year term loan totaling \$43.0 million with PNC Bank, N.A., secured by our First Financial Plaza property. The loan bears interest at a fixed annual rate of 4.58% and will mature on February
- (6) 1, 2022. The loan bears interest only for the first two years. Beginning with the payment due March 1, 2014, monthly debt service will include principal payments based on a 30-year amortization schedule, for total annual debt service of \$2,639.

(7) On February 11, 2012, we closed a 10-year term loan totaling \$30.0 million with Cantor Commercial Real Estate Lending, L.P., secured by our 10950

<sup>(2)</sup> This loan was assumed on September 1, 2011 in connection with the closing of our acquisition of the 625 Second Street property.

Washington property. The loan bears interest at a fixed annual rate of 5.316% and will mature on March 11, 2022. (8) Represents unamortized amount of the non-cash mark-to-market adjustment on debt associated with 625 Second Street and 6922 Hollywood Boulevard.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

During the third quarter of 2012, there were no material changes outside the ordinary course of business in the information regarding specified contractual obligations contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies**

Our discussion and analysis of our historical financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates of certain items and judgments as to certain future events, for example with respect to the allocation of the purchase price of acquired property among land, buildings, improvements, equipment, and any related intangible assets and liabilities, or the effect of a property tax reassessment of our properties. These determinations, even though inherently subjective and prone to change, affect the reported amounts of our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. While we believe that our estimates are based on reasonable assumptions and judgments at the time they are made, some of our assumptions, estimates and judgments will inevitably prove to be incorrect. As a result, actual outcomes will likely differ from our accruals, and those differences—positive or negative—could be material. Some of our accruals are subject to adjustment, as we believe appropriate based on revised estimates and reconciliation to the actual results when available.

In addition, we identified certain critical accounting policies that affect certain of our more significant estimates and assumptions used in preparing our consolidated financial statements in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have not made any material changes to these policies during the periods covered by this Report.

## ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our future income, cash flows and fair values relevant to financial instruments are dependent upon prevalent market interest rates. Market risk refers to the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and interest rates. As more fully described below, we use derivative financial instruments to manage, or hedge, interest rate risks related to our borrowings. We only enter into contracts with major financial institutions based on their credit rating and other factors.

Interest risk amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on our financial instruments. These analyses do not consider the effect of any change in overall economic activity that could occur in that environment. Further, in the event of a change of that magnitude, we may take actions to further mitigate our exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible effects, these analyses assume no changes in our financial structure.

On February 11, 2011, we closed a five-year term loan totaling \$92.0 million with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., secured by our Sunset Gower and Sunset Bronson media and entertainment campuses. The loan bears interest at a rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 3.50%. On March 16, 2011, we purchased an interest rate cap in order to cap one-month LIBOR at 3.715% on \$50.0 million of the loan through its maturity on February 11, 2016. On January 11, 2012 we purchased an interest rate cap in order to cap one-month LIBOR at 2.00% with respect to \$42.0 million of the loan through its maturity on February 11, 2016.

As of September 30, 2012, we had \$10.0 million drawn under our unsecured credit facility, which facility is not subject to an interest rate hedge. Therefore, with respect to the combined \$102.0 million loan on our Sunset Gower

and Sunset Bronson media and entertainment properties and \$10.0 million drawn under our unsecured credit facility, if one-month LIBOR as of September 30, 2012 was to increase by 100 basis points, or 1.0%, the resulting increase in interest expense would impact our future earnings and cash flows by \$1.0 million.

As of September 30, 2012, we had outstanding notes payable of \$358.1 million (before loan premium), of which \$102.0 million, or 28.5%, was variable rate debt, \$92.0 million of which is subject to the interest rate contracts described above, and \$256.1 million of which was fixed rate secured mortgage loans. As of September 30, 2012, the estimated fair value of our fixed rate secured mortgage loans was \$260.9 million.

#### ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is processed, recorded, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and regulations and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As of September 30, 2012, the end of the period covered by this Report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, regarding the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures at the end of the period covered by this Report. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded, as of that time, that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act (i) is processed, recorded, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

No changes to our internal control over financial reporting were identified in connection with the evaluation referenced above that occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

#### ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently a party, as plaintiff or defendant, to any legal proceedings that we believe to be material or that, individually or in the aggregate, would be expected to have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operation if determined adversely to us. As of September 30, 2012, the risk of material loss from such legal actions impacting the Company's financial condition or results from operations has been assessed as remote.

#### ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes to the risk factors included in the section entitled "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. Please review the Risk Factors set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

#### ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

(a) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities: None

(b)Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities: None

(c)Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers: None

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

None.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

On November 8, 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Hudson JW, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("HJW"), entered into a joint venture, P1 Hudson MC Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Pinnacle JV"), with Media Center Partners, LLC, a California limited liability company ("MCP"),

to acquire The Pinnacle, a two-building (Pinnacle I and Pinnacle II), 625,640 square foot, office property located in Burbank, California. Pinnacle I is a 393,776 square foot building that, immediately prior to the transactions described below, was held in a joint venture between MCP and an unrelated entity (the "Prior P1 Majority Owner"), in which MCP held approximately five percent of the ownership interests. Pinnacle II is a 231,864 square foot building owned by an affiliate of MCP, Media Center Development, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("MCD").

On November 8, 2012, the Pinnacle I building was purchased by the Pinnacle JV for \$212.5 million. In order to effectuate that purchase, HJW contributed approximately \$83.9 million to the Pinnacle JV and the Pinnacle JV obtained a \$129.0 million ten-year project loan. Proceeds from HJW's contribution and the new project loan were, in turn, used to buy-out the P1 Majority Owner interest in Pinnacle I. In return for its contribution, HJW received approximately 98 percent of the ownership interests in the Pinnacle JV, with the remaining approximately 2 percent maintained by MCP (which percentages further reflected certain credits and proration adjustments among HJW and MCP). The Company funded HJW's contribution to the Pinnacle JV with a combination of available cash on hand and a \$38.0 million draw on its unsecured revolving credit facility.

MCD is expected to contribute the Pinnacle II to the Pinnacle JV building upon the satisfaction of certain closing conditions, including lender approval of the assumption of an existing \$89.6 million project loan. While no assurances can be made with respect to the timing or success of satisfying the conditions to the contribution of Pinnacle II to the Pinnacle JV, the Company anticipates the satisfaction of those conditions to be completed before the end of the first quarter of 2013. Other than for purposes of funding closing costs and prorations, HJW will not be required to make a capital contribution in connection with the contribution of the Pinnacle II building to the Pinnacle JV, but HJW's ownership interest in the Pinnacle JV will be adjusted to reflect the contribution by MCD of Pinnacle II such that upon its contribution the combined ownership interest of MCP and MCD in Pinnacle JV shall become approximately 35 percent, with the remaining approximately 65 percent owned by HJW.

The \$129.0 million loan secured by Pinnacle I bears interest at a fixed annual rate of 3.954% per annum and will mature on November 7, 2022. Beginning with the November 6, 2017 payment date, monthly debt service will include principal amortization payments based on a 30-year amortization schedule. The \$89.6 million loan secured by Pinnacle II bears interest at a fixed annual rate of 6.31% per annum and will mature on September 30, 2016. Monthly debt service includes principal amortization payments based on a 30-year amortization schedule.

Upon completion of the transaction, the Pinnacle JV is expected to own both buildings for a combined purchase price of \$342.5 million, subject to \$218.6 million of project-level financing. The Company will also assume day-to-day property management responsibilities, with Worthe Real Estate Group overseeing leasing, subject to the Company's approval of final leases. If for any reason other than a default by HJW, the contribution of the Pinnacle II building has not occurred by the earlier of (1) six months following the closing of the Pinnacle I contribution, or (2) the date upon which the current project lender for the Pinnacle II loan delivers written notice advising that it will not approve the loan assumption, or (3) a default by MCD, HJW shall have the right exercisable in its sole and absolute discretion to purchase MCP's entire interest in the Pinnacle JV. If such right occurs as a result of either of the circumstances described in (1) or (2) of the proceeding sentence, then HJW shall have the right to purchase MCP's interest for approximately \$1.5 million. If such right occurs as a result of the circumstances described in (3) of such sentence, then the purchase amount shall be the greater of \$1.5 million or 80% of MCP's capital contributions to the Pinnacle JV.

Pinnacle I is approximately 91.7% leased to 6 tenants under long-term leases, the largest of which include Warner Music Group under a 195,166 square foot lease scheduled to expire in December 2019, Clear Channel Communications under a 107,715 square foot lease scheduled to expire in September 2016, and NBC under a 37,066 square foot lease schedule to expire in December 2014. Pinnacle II is fully leased to Warner Bros. Enterntainment under a lease scheduled to expire in December 2021.

The Pinnacle Lease Expirations By Year

Year of Lease Expiring	Number o Leases Expiring	f Square Footage of Expiring Leases	Percent o Portfolio Square F	Annualized	Percent of Portfolio Annualized Rent	Annualized Rent Per Leased Squar Foot <sup>(2)</sup>	Annualized Rent Per Leased Square Foot at Expiration <sup>(3)</sup>
Pinnacle I							1
2012				%\$—	_	%\$—	\$—
2013	1	9,005	1.4	%417,323	1.8	%46.34	46.34
2014	2	41,106	6.6	%1,705,269	7.4	%41.48	43.12
2015				%—		%—	
2016	1	107,715	17.2	%4,391,805	19.1	%40.77	44.13
2017	1	8,257	1.3	%322,023	1.4	%39.00	39.00
2018			—	%—		%—	
2019	1	195,166	31.2	%7,726,622	33.5	% 39.59	45.48
Sub-total	6	361,249	57.7	%\$14,563,043	63.2	%\$40.31	\$44.68
Pinnacle II							
2021	1	230,000	36.8	%\$8,489,300	36.8	%\$36.91	\$43.68
Sub-total	1	230,000	36.8	%\$8,489,300	36.8	%\$36.91	\$43.68
Total	7	591,249	94.5	%\$23,052,343	100	%\$38.99	\$44.29

Annualized Rent represents the annualized monthly contractual base rent (before abatements) under existing leases (1)as of November 1, 2012. Calculated by multiplying (i) base rental payments (defined as cash base rent (before abatements)) for the month ending November 30, 2012, by (ii) 12.

(2) Annualized Rent per Leased Square Foot is calculated as (i) annualized base rent divided by (ii) square footage under lease as of November 30, 2012.

(3) Annualized Rent per Leased Square Foot at Expiration is calculated as (i) annualized base rent at expiration divided by (ii) square footage under leases as of November 30, 2012.

Other than normally recurring capital expenditures and tenants improvements, we have no present plans with respect to renovation, improvement or redevelopment of The Pinnacle. The Pinnacle will be insured, along with our other properties, under a blanket property, liability, fire, extended coverage, terrorism and rental loss insurance policy that is renewed on an annual basis.

## ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number Description

- 3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.<sup>(2)</sup>
- 3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.<sup>(2)</sup>
- 3.3 Form of Articles Supplementary of Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.<sup>(9)</sup>
- 4.1 Form of Certificate of Common Stock of Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.<sup>(5)</sup>
- 4.2 Form of Certificate of Series B Preferred Stock of Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.<sup>(9)</sup>
- 10.1 Form of Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P.<sup>(9)</sup>
- 10.2 Registration Rights Agreement among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and the persons named therein.<sup>(8)</sup>

- 10.3 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Victor J. Coleman.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.4 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Howard S. Stern.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.5 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Mark T. Lammas.<sup>(8)</sup>

- Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Christopher Barton.<sup>(8)</sup>
  Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and
- 10.7 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Dale Shimoda.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.8 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Theodore R. Antenucci.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.9 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Mark Burnett.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.10 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Richard B. Fried.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.11 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Jonathan M. Glaser.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.12 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Mark D. Linehan.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.13 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 2010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Robert M. Moran, Jr.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.14 Indemnification Agreement, dated June 29, 1010, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Barry A. Porter.<sup>(8)</sup>
- 10.15 Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. 2010 Incentive Award Plan.<sup>(5) \*</sup>
- 10.16 Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Award Agreement.<sup>(5) \*</sup>
- 10.17 Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. Director Stock Plan.<sup>(9)</sup>\*
- 10.18 Employment Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2010, by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Victor J. Coleman.<sup>(2) \*</sup>
- 10.19 Employment Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2010, by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Howard S. Stern.<sup>(2) \*</sup>
- 10.20 Employment Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2010, by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Mark T. Lammas.<sup>(4) \*</sup>
- 10.21 Employment Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2010, by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Christopher Barton.<sup>(2) \*</sup>
- 10.22 Employment Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2010, by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Dale Shimoda.<sup>(2)\*</sup>
- 10.23 Contribution Agreement by and among Victor J. Coleman, Howard S. Stern, Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(1)</sup>
- Contribution Agreement by and among SGS investors, LLC, HFOP Investors, LLC, Soma Square
- 10.24 Investors, LLC, Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(1)</sup>
- 10.25 Contribution Agreement by and among TMG-Flynn SOMA, LLC, Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(1)</sup>
- 10.26 Contribution Agreement by and among Glenborough Fund XIV, L.P., Glenborough Acquisition, LLC, Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(1)</sup> Representation, Warranty and Indemnity Agreement by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.
- 10.27 Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P., and the persons named therein as nominees of the Farallon Funds, dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(1)</sup>
- Representation, Warranty and Indemnity Agreement by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.,
  Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and the persons named therein as nominees of TMG-Flynn SOMA, LLC, dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(1)</sup>
- Representation, Warranty and Indemnity Agreement by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.
  Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P., and the persons named therein as nominees of Glenborough Fund XIV, L.P. dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(1)</sup>

Subscription Agreement by and among Farallon Capital Partners, L.P., Farallon Capital Institutional
 Partners, L.P., Farallon Capital Institution Partners III, L.P., Victor J. Coleman and Hudson Pacific

- Properties, Inc. dated as of February 15, 2010.<sup>(2)</sup>
- 10.31 Tax Protection Agreement between Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and the persons named therein, dated June 29, 2010.<sup>(7)</sup>

Agreement of Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions between Del Amo Fashion Center 10.32 Operating Company and Hudson Capital, LLC dated as of May 18, 2010.<sup>(4)</sup> Credit Agreement among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Hudson Pacific Properties L.P., Barclays Capital and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (as successor in interest to Banc of 10.33 America Securities LLC), as Joint Lead Arrangers, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and Barclays Bank PLC, as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto, dated June 29, 2010.<sup>(7)</sup> First Modification Agreement between Sunset Bronson Entertainment Properties, LLC and Wells Fargo 10.34 Bank, N.A. dated as of June 29, 2010.<sup>(5)</sup> Amended and Restated First Modification Agreement between Sunset Bronson Entertainment Properties, 10.35 LLC and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. dated as of June 20, 2010.<sup>(7)</sup> Loan Agreement among Sunset Bronson Entertainment Properties, L.L.C., as Borrower, Wachovia Bank, 10.36 National Association, as Administrative Agent, Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, as Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner, and lenders party thereto, dated as of May 12, 2008.<sup>(6)</sup> Conditional Consent Agreement between GLB Encino, LLC, as Borrower, and SunAmerica Life 10.37 Insurance Company, as Lender, dated as of June 10, 2010.<sup>(6)</sup> Amended and Restated Deed of Trust, Security Agreement, Fixture Filing, Financing Statement and Assignment of Leases and Rents between GLB Encino, LLC, as Trustor, SunAmerica Life Insurance 10.38 Company, as Beneficiary, and First American Title Insurance Company, as Trustee, dated as of January 26, 2007.(6) Amended and Restated Promissory Note by GLB Encino, as Maker, to SunAmerica Life Insurance 10.39 Company, as Holder, dated as of January 26, 2007.<sup>(6)</sup> Approval Letter from Wells Fargo, as Master Servicer, and CWCapital Asset Management, LLC, as 10.40 Special Servicer to Hudson Capital LLC, dated as of June 8, 2010.<sup>(6)</sup> Loan and Security Agreement between Glenborough Tierrasanta, LLC, as Borrower, and German 10.41 American Capital Corporation, as Lender, dated as of November 28, 2006.<sup>(6)</sup> Note by Glenborough Tierrasanta, LLC, as Borrower, in favor of German American Capital Corporation, 10.42 as Lender, dated as of November 28, 2006.<sup>(6)</sup> Reaffirmation, Consent to Transfer and Substitution of Indemnitor, by and among Glenborough Tierrasanta, LLC, Morgan Stanley Real Estate Fund V U.S., L.P., MSP Real Estate Fund V, L.P. Morgan Stanley Real Estate Investors, V U.S., L.P., Morgan Stanley Real Estate Fund V Special U.S., L.P., MSP 10.43 Co-Investment Partnership V, L.P., MSP Co-Investment Partnership V, L.P., Glenborough Fund XIV, L.P., Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P., and US Bank National Association, dated June 29, 2010.<sup>(7)</sup> Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated September 15, 2010, by and between ECI Washington LLC and 10.44 Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P.<sup>(9)</sup> First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated October 1, 2010, by and between ECI 10.45 Washington LLC and Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P.<sup>(9)</sup> Term Loan Agreement by and between Sunset Bronson Entertainment Properties, LLC and Sunset Gower Entertainment Properties, LLC, as Borrowers, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Lender, 10.46 dated February 11, 2011.(10) Contract for Sale dated as of December 15, 2010 by and between Hudson 1455 Market, LLC and Bank of 10.47 America, National Association.<sup>(12)</sup> Contribution Agreement by and between BCSP IV U.S. Investments, L.P. and Hudson Pacific Properties, 10.48 L.P., dated as of December 15, 2010.<sup>(13)</sup> Limited Liability Company Agreement of Rincon Center JV LLC by and between Rincon Center Equity 10.49 LLC and Hudson Rincon, LLC, dated as of December 16, 2010.<sup>(13)</sup> 10.50 First Amendment to Credit Agreement among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Hudson Pacific Properties L.P., Barclays Capital and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (as successor in interest to Banc of America Securities LLC), as Joint Lead Arrangers, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and Barclays Bank PLC, as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto, dated December 10,

	2010. <sup>(13)</sup>
	Second Amendment to Credit Agreement among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Hudson Pacific
	Properties L.P., Barclays Capital and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (as successor in
10.51	interest to Banc of America Securities LLC), as Joint Lead Arrangers, Bank of America, N.A., as
	Syndication Agent, and Barclays Bank PLC, as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto,
	dated April 4, 2011. <sup>(14)</sup>
	First Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.,
10.52	Farallon Capital Partners, L.P., Farallon Capital Institutional Partners, L.P. and Farallon Capital
	Institutional Partners III, L.P., dated May 3, 2011. (11)
38	

Subscription Amendment by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc., Farallon Capital Partners, L.P.,
Farallon Capital Institutional Partners, L.P. and Farallon Capital Institutional Partners III, L.P., dated April 26, 2011. <sup>(15)</sup>
Loan Agreement by and between Hudson Rincon Center, LLC, as Borrower, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Lender, dated April 29, 2011. <sup>(11)</sup>
Indemnification Agreement, dated October 1, 2011, by and between Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc. and Patrick Whitesell. <sup>(16)</sup>
2012 Outperformance Award Agreement. <sup>(17)*</sup>
Credit Agreement by and among Hudson Pacific Properties, L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner and Smith Incorporated, as Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners, Bank of America, N.A., and Barclays
Bank PLC, as Syndication Agents, and Keybank National Association, as Documentation Agent, dated August 3, 2012.
Limited Liability Company Agreement of Hudson MC Partners, LLC, dated as of November 8, 2012
Acquisition and Contribution Agreement between Media Center Development, LLC and P2 Hudson Partners, LLC for Pinnacle 2 Property Located at 3300 West Olive Avenue, Burbank, California
Loan Agreement dated as of November 8, 2012 between P1 Hudson MC Partners, LLC, as Borrower and Jefferies Loancore LLC, as Lender
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certifications by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certificate of Correction. <sup>(18)</sup>
The following financial information from Hudson Pacific Properties, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets (unaudited), (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited), (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (unaudited), (iv) Consolidated Statement of Equity (unaudited), (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements **

- (1) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 9, 2010.
- (2 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2010.
- (3 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 3, 2010.
- (4 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 2010.
- (5 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 14, 2010.
- (6 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 22, 2010.
- (7 ) Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 1, 2010.
- (8 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 22, 2010.
- (9 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11/A filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 6, 2010.
- (10 ) Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2011.
- (11 ) Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 4, 2011.
- (12 ) Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 21, 2010.
- (13 ) Previously filed with the Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 14, 2011.
- (14 ) Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 5, 2011.
- (15 ) Previously filed with the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011.
- (16 ) Previously filed with the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2011.
- (17 ) Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 6, 2012.
- (18 ) Previously filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 23, 2012.

Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the interactive data files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not

\*\* filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

HUDSON PACIFIC PROPERTIES, INC.

Date: November 9, 2012

/S/ MARK T. LAMMAS Mark T. Lammas Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)